JUN 0 4 2018

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By_____

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 34435-5-III

TERRY SCHILLING and JULIE SCHILLING, husband and wife, and ARTISAN, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

VS.

PROBUILD COMPANY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, d/b/a Lumbermens, and MITEK INDUSTRIES, INC. a foreign corporation,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANTS/CROSS-RESPONDENTS TERRY SCHILLING and JULIE SCHILLING, and ARTISAN, INC.

JAMES A. PERKINS, WSBA #13330 Larson Berg & Perkins PLLC 105 North Third Street Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 457-1515

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Terry Schilling and Julie Schilling, husband and wife (Schilling), and Artisan, Inc., a Washington corporation (Artisan), (collectively Petitioners).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the decision filed May 8, 2018, by Division III of the Court of Appeals in Cause No. 34435-5-III (Decision). The unpublished Decision is attached as **Appendix 1**

III. <u>REVIEW ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

1. As a matter of "substantial public interest," should the proven illegal "plan stamping" business practices of Respondents ProBuild Company, LLC, a Washington limited liability company (ProBuild), and MiTek Industries, Inc., a foreign corporation (MiTek) be allowed to continue?

2. As a matter of "substantial public interest," can a private party disclaim Washington's engineering statutes and Washington Administrative Codes (WAC's), which forbid plan stamping and require that an engineer exercise "direct supervision" over loadings chosen for a project? (RCW 18.43.070 and WAC 196-23-030; WAC 196-23-036).

3. Does the Decision conflict with other cases holding that statutory duties cannot be avoided by private contract as a matter of public policy?

Vedder v. Spellman, 78 Wn.2d 834, 480 P.2d 207 (1971); Schlener v. Allstate Ins. Co., 121 Wn.App. 384, 88 P.3d 993 (2004); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Welch, 45 Wn.App. 740, 727 P.2d 268 (1986); Employco Personnel Service, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 117 Wn.2d 606, 817 P.2d 1373 (1991); and Washington Federation of State Emp. AFL-CIO Council 28 v. Spokane Community College, 90 Wn.2d 698, 585 P.2d 474 (1978).

4. Does the Decision conflict with other cases holding that on appeal from summary judgment, all facts and all inferences most favorable to the non-moving party be deemed true? *Transalta Centralia Generation LLC v. Sicklesteel*, 134 Wn.App. 819, 142 P.3d 209 (2006); *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 109 P.3d 805 (2005).

5. Does the Decision conflict with other cases holding that if disputed contract language can be given two or more meanings, a summary judgment dismissal cannot issue? *Martinez v. Miller Industries, Inc.*, 94 Wn.App. 935, 974 P.2d 1261 (1999); *Kries v. Wa-Spok Primary Care, LLC*, 190 Wn.App. 98, 362 P.3d 974 (2015).

6. Does the Decision conflict with other cases holding that a disclaimer which issues post-sale is without legal effect? *Potter v. Wilbur-Ellis Co.*, 62 Wn.App. 318, 814 P.2d 670 (1991), and *Hartwig Farms, Inc. v. Pacific Gamble Robinson Co.*, 28 Wn.App. 539, 625 P.2d 171 (1981).

7. As a matter of first impression and "substantial public interest" can a private industry entity, ANSI/TPI, nullify Washington's engineering statute duties, and does the Decision err in holding that certain ANSI/TPI rules were adopted and supersede statutory duties in Washington?

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Schilling/Artisan</u>.

Petitioners Schilling are homeowners and petitioner Artisan is the general contractor hired to build the Schilling home. Custom trusses were needed to construct the home. Schilling contracted directly with ProBuild to manufacture these trusses. To be legally useable, purchased trusses <u>must</u> be accompanied by engineer-stamped truss plans. ProBuild contracted with MiTek to supply engineer-stamped plans for Schilling.

2. <u>ProBuild/MiTek</u>.

ProBuild manufactures and sells custom trusses in multiple states, including Washington. Manufactured wood trusses must be designed and engineered for each specific project and require metal connectors. Software programs have been developed by metal connector manufacturers, which allow unlicensed truss company salespeople to design trusses. Respondent MiTek has developed and owns one such software product. If a truss company (here, ProBuild) agrees to exclusively buy truss metal products from MiTek, it gets a license to use

MiTek's design software. MiTek contracts to engineer-stamp plans prepared using its software. Here, a ProBuild salesman designed the Schilling trusses using MiTek software, and a MiTek engineer-stamped those truss plans.

3. Washington Engineering Statutes and WAC's.

RCW 18.43.070 specifies what an engineer's stamp legally

represents. It states:

Such signature and stamping shall constitute a <u>certification</u> by the registrant that the same was prepared by or <u>under his</u> or her direct supervision and that to his or her knowledge and belief, the same was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the statute. [Emphasis added.]

What constitutes "direct supervision" is defined by former WAC

196-23-030, which states:

<u>Direct supervision</u> is a combination of activities by which a licensee maintains <u>control over those decisions that are the</u> <u>basis for the finding, conclusions, analysis, rationale,</u> <u>details and judgments</u> that are <u>embodied in the</u> <u>development and preparation of</u> engineering or land surveying plans, <u>specifications</u>, plats, reports and related activities. [Emphasis added.]

. .

Direct supervision requires providing personal direction, oversight, inspection, observation and supervision of the work being certified. [Emphasis added.] In the fall of 2006, WAC 196-23-030 was recodified as new WAC 196-25-070 and the following explanatory language was added:

... Drawing or other document <u>review after preparation</u> without involvement in the design and development process as described above <u>cannot be accepted as direct</u> <u>supervision</u>. [Emphasis added.]

To summarize, truss specifications can be initially chosen by an unlicensed person and plans can be prepared using those specifications. Before those plans can be legally stamped, however, an engineer must know ("oversee") why the particular loadings were chosen and must confirm the loadings are correct for the project.

4. <u>Plan Stamping</u>.

The term "plan stamping" describes the practice of a licensed engineer stamping plans, which the engineer has neither created nor "directly supervised" for accuracy. The practice is illegal because RCW 18.43.070 makes an engineer stamp a "certification" that the engineer exercised "oversight", *i.e.*, "direct supervision" over the plan specifications being stamped. (*See*, WAC 196-23-030, now recodified as WAC 196-23-070).

Here, it is undisputed that ProBuild salesman, George Brooks (Brooks) used MiTek's software, to design the Schilling trusses. It was proven that Brooks, not MiTek, designed the trusses, because only Brooks 1) had the building plans; 2) knew the state and municipality where the Schilling home was being constructed; and 3) knew the local codes and contract requirements which the trusses had to meet.

Even though MiTek does not design the trusses, see the building plans, know what local building codes apply, know the qualifications or training of any designer, or confirm project loadings chosen are accurate, and it makes no effort to double check (directly supervise) any design information, on June 1, 2007, MiTek engineer, Palmer Tingey (Tingey), "plan stamped" the Schilling plans.

This illegal "plan stamping" conduct is not unique to the Schilling home. During discovery, plan stamping was disclosed as an existing business practice that ProBuild and MiTek have engaged in for years, <u>a</u> <u>business practice which continues today</u>. Accordingly, thousands of Washington homes have had their truss plans illegally "plan stamped" by MiTek.¹

5. <u>Pre-Complaint History</u>.

Per the Schilling/ProBuild contract, on or about June 1, 2007, ProBuild's trusses were delivered to the jobsite and Petitioners received engineer-stamped truss plans. The <u>post-sale</u> stamped plans (*see* Appendix 2) on page 1 have the following language:

¹ Since an illegal stamp means a home violates the building code, at minimum until cured, this breach diminishes each home's resale value.

The truss drawing(s) referenced below have <u>been prepared</u> by <u>MiTek Industries</u>, Inc. under my direct supervision based on the parameters provided by Lumbermen's Building Ctr. - 715. [Emphasis added.]

The seal on these drawings indicate <u>acceptance of</u> <u>professional engineering responsibilities</u> solely for the truss components shown. The suitability and use of this component for any particular building is the responsibility of the building designer per ANSI/TPI-2002 Chapter 2. [Emphasis added.]

The City building official responsible for the Schilling job, Mr. William Rathbone (Rathbone), did not read this <u>post-sale</u> plan language as disclaiming Washington's engineer stamp obligations.

Rathbone instead understood this language to mean a MiTek engineer had complied with the statute's "direct supervision" requirements, but whether the trusses would fit correctly onto the building walls to which they were to be attached and/or whether *i.e.*, the final roof height and look would be what an owner desired, would not be the stamping engineer's responsibility.

The Schilling plans originally called for a tile roof. Brooks was asked to design the trusses to accommodate a tile roof. The Schilling plans as delivered showed the trusses would accommodate a 12 lb. top chord dead load (TCDL). ProBuild and MiTek have continuously claimed that a 12 lb. TCDL will accommodate <u>some</u> tile roofs and therefore, the plan loadings are correct.

Inconsistent with that claim, before suit, ProBuild and MiTek inspected the Schilling home at Petitioners' request, to try to determine the cause for repeated garage ceiling cracking. By letter dated January 13, 2012, ProBuild representative, Frank Novak (Novak), disclosed to Schilling: "We designed your house with a load for <u>heavy comp roofing</u> and that is what was used." Stunned by this apparent admission the trusses were not designed to accommodate tile, on February 16, 2012, Petitioners filed suit against ProBuild and MiTek.

When suit was filed, independent of the loading issue, Petitioners had no knowledge that as a business practice, ProBuild and MiTek were engaged in illegal "plan stamping", <u>the central issue presented by this</u> <u>appeal</u>. It was not until Tingey's deposition, taken well-after lawsuit filing, that Petitioners first learned about ProBuild and MiTek's plan stamping practices. Once discovered, on May 9, 2014, Petitioners moved to amend their complaint to assert this new claim against MiTek and to identify plan stamping as an additional Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claim against ProBuild. In error the Decision conflates this separate post-suit plan stamping claim with Petitioners' different truss loading claims. Each requires a separate legal analysis, which the Decision does not perform.

6. Superior Court/Appellate Court Decisions.

Confident illegal plan stamping violated Washington's CPA, in July 2014, Petitioners asked the superior court to issue partial summary judgment against ProBuild and MiTek. The court did so by order dated November 6, 2014. The court in part found "a statutory and WAC definition of 'direct supervision' did not occur in this case."

Despite being found liable, ProBuild and MiTek later moved to dismiss the lawsuit (including the new "plan stamping" CPA claims), due to an alleged statute of limitations bar. By later order dated April 15, 2016, the lawsuit was dismissed. On May 6, 2016, Petitioners appealed this dismissal order.

On appeal, Petitioners identified that central appeal issues were 1) whether ProBuild and MiTek's proven "plan stamping" practices were illegal because they violated Washington engineering statutes and WACs; 2) whether those illegal practices could be made legal by disputed <u>post-</u> <u>sale</u> language placed on the stamped plans; 3) whether disputed ANSI/TPI rules did or could change Washington statutory duties; and 4) whether accepting as true all record facts and inferences most favorable to Petitioners, the Petitioners "should have known" (or could have known before discovery disclosed it), that ProBuild and MiTek <u>were engaged in</u> <u>illegal plan stamping</u>. (*See* Brief Excerpts **Appendix 3**).

Despite identifying plan stamping (and not whether disputed truss loadings were or were not correct) as the central appeal issue, the Decision does not directly address the Petitioners' plan stamping claims. (Petition **Appendix 1**).

Upon reading **Appendix 1**, this Court will find the Decision instead focuses principally on whether the loadings reflected by the truss plans were incorrect and when the Petitioners "should have known" about this different lawsuit claim issue.

Because whether "plan stamping" is now legal in Washington or can be made legal by a contested post-sale disclaimer, are matters of "substantial public interest," this Court should accept Decision review. Further, review is proper because the Decision's legal conclusions are objectively in direct conflict with abundant prior published case law.

7. Public Policy Plan Stamping Issues Needing Review.

It is Petitioners' position that 1) plan stamping is illegal under applicable statutes and cannot be privately contracted around or disclaimed by disclosure; 2) assuming, arguendo, statutory stamp requirements could be supplanted or disclaimed, Washington case law

makes <u>post-sale</u> attempts at disclaiming statutory obligations ineffective and unenforceable; 3) the MiTek truss plan language is not a disclaimer and cannot be deemed as such for summary judgment purposes; 4) the ANSI/TPI cannot supplant Washington's statutory stamp requirements, and any attempt to do so was never approved by Washington State; and 5) applying required language interpretation law, MiTek's disputed plan language does not inform Petitioners that Respondents are engaged in illegal plan stamping. Therefore, Petitioners' post-suit discovery of this separate CPA claim practice is not barred by the statute of limitations. For all of these reasons, review should be accepted.

V. ARGUMENT

1. Plan Stamping Is Not Legal.

It is undisputed that RCW 18.43.070 requires as "direct supervision," that an engineer know (oversee) why project loadings are chosen and must confirm they are project correct, before an engineer's stamp is affixed.

To dismiss Petitioners' lawsuit, the Decision now implicitly holds these statutory stamp requirements can be avoided by private contract and/or by post-sale disclaimer, and that MiTek's disputed plan language did this. Prior case law however, holds statutory duties cannot be changed or disclaimed. *Travis v. Washington Horse Breeders Ass'n Inc.*, 111 Wn.2d 396, 405, 759 P.2d 418 (1988); *Schlener, supra; Allstate Ins. Co., supra; Employco Personnel Services Inc., supra; Potter, supra; McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008). This Decision error should be reviewed.

2. <u>Assuming Statutory "Direct Supervision" Requirements could</u> be Legally Supplanted or Disclaimed, Were They?

The Decision implicitly finds the disputed plan language affixed to the plans <u>post-sale</u> by MiTek is legally effective, and therefore voided MiTek/Tingey's engineer stamp obligations.

This conclusion conflicts with published case law which holds a disclaimer issued after a sale has occurred is without legal effect. *Potter*, *supra*; *Hartwig Farms Inc.*, *supra*; *Dorman v. International Harvester Co.*, 46 Cal.App.3d 11, 120 Cal.Rptr. 516 (1975).

Equally concerning, besides ignoring that statutory obligations cannot be disclaimed, the Decision in error also holds Petitioners "should have" read MiTek's disputed plan language as disclosing illegal plan stamping, a reading case law precludes.

3. <u>The Appellate Court in Error, Adjudicated Ambiguous Plan</u> <u>Language</u>.

Disputed language is "ambiguous" when its terms are uncertain or

are capable of being understood as having more than one meaning. Western Farm Svc. Inc. v. Olsen, 114 Wn.App. 508, 519, 59 P.3d 93 (2002); Sons of Norway v. Boomer, 10 Wn.App. 618, 519 P.2d 28 (1974); Nashem v. Jacobson, 6 Wn.App. 363, 367, 492 P.2d 1043 (1972).

Prior case law holds that disputed language must be interpreted <u>as</u> <u>being consistent with the requirements of existing statutes and rules of</u> <u>law.</u> Bort v. Parker, 110 Wn.App. 561, 42 P.3d 980, rev. denied 147 Wn.2d 1013, 56 P.3d 565 (2002); Tanner Electric Cooperative v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co., 128 Wn.2d 656, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996). Courts cannot accept disputed language meanings which would render contract obligations illusory. Taylor v. Shigaki, 84 Wn.App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340 (1997). When more than one reasonable interpretation of disputed language is possible, a summary judgment cannot issue. Wm. Dickson Co. v. Pierce County, 128 Wn.App. 488, 494-495, 116 P.3d 409 (2005).

Applying the above required decisional law to disputed plan language, the first sentence on truss plan Page 1 states as follows:

The truss drawing(s) referenced below <u>have been prepared</u> by MiTek Industries Inc. under my direct supervision based on the parameters provided by Lumbermen's Building Ctr-<u>715</u>. [Emphasis added.]

This language says (falsely) MiTek's engineer followed Washington's statutes by exercising "direct supervision" over the truss parameters provided by ProBuild.²

The next Page 1 disputed plan language states:

The seal on these drawings indicate acceptance of professional engineering responsibility solely for the truss component shown. The suitability and use of this component for any particular building is the responsibility of the building designer, per ANSI/TPI—2002, Chapter 2. [Emphasis added.]

The first sentence suggests the stamping engineer per Washington law is accepting responsibility for the plan-stamped trusses.

The second quoted sentence is, at best "ambiguous." Building official Rathbone testified he read this language to mean that whether the manufactured trusses would fit on the walls or are later erected as they are supposed to be (to the right height, etc.), are not truss facts being certified by the engineer's stamp.

Ignoring Rathbone's testimony, the Decision holds this contested plan language can <u>only</u> be read as disclosing plan stamping (a practice contrary to the requirements of existing statutes and law). This holding is in direct conflict with Washington's cited language interpretation case law.

 $^{^2}$ It does not put the reader on notice that illegal plan stamping has occurred, because it does not disclose a failure to perform "direct supervision" by the stamping engineer.

Reading the second quoted sentence to mean that no "direct supervision" for the truss loadings occurred, also directly contradicts the "prepared under my direct supervision" statement made by MiTek's first plan sentence.

Washington case law <u>requires</u> disputed contract language to be interpreted in a manner which gives effect <u>to all</u> of a writing's provisions, over an interpretation which renders some at-issue language meaningless or illusory. *Newsom v. Miller*, 42 Wn.2d 727, 731, 258 P.2d 812 (1953); *Taylor v. Shigaki, supra*. The Decision ignores this case law. Its holding, which makes the "direct supervision" fact representation meaningless and illusory, conflicts with this case law.

As additional disputed language, MiTek and ProBuild cite to other "boilerplate" language at the bottom of each truss plan page which states:

Warning – Verify design parameters and <u>READ NOTE ON</u> <u>THIS AND INCLUDED MITEK REFERENCE PAGE</u> <u>M2-7473 BEFORE USE</u>. Design valid for use only with MiTek connectors. <u>This design is based only upon</u> parameters shown and is for an individual building component. Applicability of design parameters and proper incorporation of component is responsibility of building designer – not truss designer . . [Emphasis added.]

This disputed language does not say verify plan "loadings" because plan stamping has occurred.

Rather, to determine what MiTek means by saying "verify design parameters," the sentence directs the reader to "READ NOTES ON THIS AND INCLUDED MITEK REFERENCE PAGE MII-7473 BEFORE USE." That plan page is attached as **Appendix 4** to this petition. The "design parameters" discussed by this page <u>are not truss loadings</u>. They are instead exactly what Rathbone testified to, instructions about how to *e.g.*, properly install the trusses to the building walls.

Summarized, review should be accepted because in direct conflict with record facts and cited case law, the Decision holds disputed plan language can only be read as disclosing illegal plan stamping, which is a case law prohibited reading, that renders invalid Washington's engineer stamp requirements and makes meaningless the MiTek plan statement that "direct supervision" over plan preparation was performed.

4. <u>The ANSI/TPI Sections Referenced by the Decision are not</u> Washington Law.

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