FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/29/2018 11:08 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

#### NO. 95955-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY SCHILLING AND JULIE SCHILLING AND ARTISAN, INC.,

Petitioners,

V.

PROBUILD COMPANY, LLC AND MITEK INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO MOTION FOR PETITION FOR REVIEW

JUSTIN E. BOLSTER, WSBA #38198 Attorney for Respondent MiTek Industries, Inc. Preg O'Donnell & Gillett PLLC 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98164 206-287-1775

#### **

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

#### III. Restatement of the Case

#### A. Background Facts

At its core this is a case about construction contracts. "[C]onstruction projects are multi-party transactions, but rarely is it the case that all or most of the parties involved in the project will be parties to the same document or documents. In fact, most construction transactions are documented in a series of two-party contracts, such as owner/architect, owner/contractor, and contractor/subcontractor. Nevertheless, the conduct of most construction projects contemplates a complex set of interrelationships, and respective rights and obligations." Fundamentals of Construction Law, at 4–5 (Carina Y. Enhada et al., eds., 2001). In such a contract chain the parties bargain and define their rights

and remedies between and amongst themselves.

In this case, Schillings contracted with Artisan and its related company Altius, LLC to design and build their house. Schillings, through Artisan, then contracted with various contractors, such as engineer Timothy Bardell—who reviewed and sealed Altius' building designs; and ProBuild—who manufactured the metal-plate connected wooden trusses.

ProBuild separately orally contracted with MiTek to prepare individual truss designs using the parameters that were specified by ProBuild.<sup>2</sup> The evidence is undisputed that MiTek had no knowledge of the Petitioners, and similarly, Petitioners had no knowledge or interaction with MiTek. Petitioners brief shamelessly ignores three critical facts: (1) MiTek's only client in this transaction was ProBuild; (2) ProBuild contracted with MiTek to perform a limited scope of work; and (3) MiTek fully performed the scope of work it agreed to perform for ProBuild.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ProBuild's "design parameters" are the criteria, e.g., dimensions, properties of materials, support and load conditions, which an engineer inputs into design formulas. The engineer then uses his engineering knowledge, training and experience to analyze and/or predict the performance of materials under conditions defined by the chosen parameters. The key design parameters at issue in this case are (1) the weight of roofing material which Petitioners claim should have been 15 lbs./sq. ft. ("psf"), and (2) the top chord live load which the trusses were designed to support, which Plaintiffs claim should have been a 30 psf roof snow load.

Petitioners must stop using the term "plan stamping" as it relates to MiTek's conduct. MiTek did not engage in the act of "plan" stamping." The undisputed evidence confirms that MiTek received loading and design parameter information from ProBuild, along with a request that MiTek prepare individual truss designs based on ProBuild's specifications. (A-18, A-21-22). MiTek performed its own calculations and prepared designs clearly stating that each design was prepared using parameters and specifications received from ProBuild. (A-4-6). MiTek also added cautionary language on the designs explaining that the truss designs needed to be reviewed and approved by a building designer before being incorporated into any particular building. This written confirmation of MiTek's scope of work placed Petitioners on notice about the limited nature of the engineering work MiTek performed had they bothered to read the design package.

MiTek did not place an engineering seal on, or ever see, ProBuild's preliminary truss designs. MiTek further notes that Petitioner's statement that "a ProBuild salesman designed the Schilling trusses using MiTek software, and a MiTek engineer-

stamped those truss plans" is patently false.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, the acts of MiTek that Petitioners take issue with: (1) do not constitute the practice of engineering, and (2) are beyond the scope of work that ProBuild contracted with MiTek to perform.

#### **B.** Contract Formation Facts

In 2005, Schillings contracted with James and Josh Sevigny of Artisan, to manage and oversee the construction of their house. Schillings also contracted with Josh Sevigny's separate but related company, Altius, LLC, to design and prepare the building plans for their new home. Schillings admit that they exclusively relied on Artisan and the Sevignys to oversee all aspects of construction, including the hiring and retention of any necessary engineers. Artisan hired Timothy Bardell of B7 Engineering as the Schillings' structural engineer consistent with that expectation. The only engineer that Petitioners had a contractual relationship with was Mr. Bardell.

Mr. Bardell failed to specify the design parameters he used, such as the roof loading, nor did he identify the correct building code that he relied upon. Mr. Bardell admitted that in doing so, he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appendix A-021-22 is the excerpt of the deposition of MiTek engineer Redong Yu where Petitioners' counsel confirms his understanding that MiTek does not see or seal ProBuild designs.

violated the 2003 version of the International Building Code ("IBC") section 1603.1<sup>4</sup> that required certain loading information be identified on sealed designs.<sup>5</sup>

In 2007, ProBuild provided a bid for a package of roof trusses for the Schilling residence. Artisan accepted the bid on the Schillings' behalf. ProBuild then obtained all of necessary information to determine the size and shape of the trusses it wanted to sell to Schillings, as well as the weight of material it wanted its trusses to withstand. ProBuild determined that a 12 pound TCDL<sup>6</sup> was appropriate. The loading for truss designs are generally designated as **TCLL** for Top Chord Live Load, **TCDL** for Top Chord Dead Load, **BCLL** for Bottom Chord Live Load, and **BCDL** for Bottom Chord Dead Load. ProBuild transmitted the design parameters it selected to MiTek and asked MiTek to prepare individual truss designs conforming to that request.

MiTek performed each and every calculation embodied on its truss designs in its office in California. MiTek's engineer sealed its designs certifying that the calculations used to create MiTek's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This was building code applicable when Bardell performed his work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The truss designs prepared by MiTek specifically identified all loading elements required by the IBC and the International Residential Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> TCDL is the Top Chord Dead Load and is the primary parameter Petitioners take issue with.

design were performed by, or under the supervision of, the engineer.

The designs prepared by MiTek's engineer included clear language on a cover page, as well as on each individual design, advising anyone who bothered to look at them that MiTek's scope of work was limited to preparing individual designs based on parameters provided by ProBuild, and that the designs were not certified to be used for any particular building:

The truss drawing(s) referenced below have been prepared by MiTek Industries, Inc. under my direct supervision based on the parameters provided by [ProBuild]. A-293 [emphasis added].

\*\*\*

The seal on these drawings indicate acceptance of professional responsibility solely for the truss components shown. The suitability and use of this component for any particular building is the responsibility of the building designer, per ANSI/TPI-2002 Chapter 2. [emphasis added].

At the bottom of each design was the following prominent "Warning" reiterating the limited scope of MiTek's services:

WARNING! – VERIFY DESIGN PARAMETERS AND READ ALL NOTES ON THIS TRUSS DRAWING BEFORE USE. ... This design is based only upon parameters shown and is for an individual building component to be installed and loaded vertically. Applicability of design parameters and proper incorporation of component is the responsibility of building designer.... [emphasis in original].

This language was not a post-sale disclaimer. It was a statement confirming the scope of work that MiTek was asked by ProBuild to perform. ProBuild then delivered the trusses it manufactured along with the truss designs to Artisan in June 2007. Artisan admits that it received the truss designs and knew to how to review the truss loading to confirm whether the TCDL of 15 that it expected was designated on the truss designs. (A-31). It is undisputed that each truss design clearly indicates they were prepared using a TCDL of 12, which should have caused Sevigny to inquire whether the designs conformed to his expectation. He did not. Instead, Sevigny delivered the truss designs to the City of Union Gap who determined that the truss designs complied with the City's building codes and stamped them as approved. (A-23-24). That approval is still in full force and effect.

MiTek also points out that evidence was presented that ProBuild began building the trusses before it received any truss designs from MiTek. Therefore, MiTek's engineering could not have materially impacted the subject trusses.

#### C. Procedural Posture

Petitioners filed suit on February 16, 2012, alleging violations of Washington's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), breach of

express and implied warranties under the Uniform Commercial Code-Sales (UCC 2), and that they were intended third party beneficiaries to the contract between ProBuild and MiTek.<sup>7</sup>

Petitioners moved for partial summary judgment arguing that MiTek and ProBuild violated the CPA. As to MiTek, Petitioners asserted that MiTek violated RCW 18.43.070 and WAC 196-25-070, by failing to validate the loading parameters selected by ProBuild were appropriate for the Schillings' residence. On November 6, 2014, the trial court granted partial summary judgment.

Petitioners then moved for partial summary judgment asking the court to find ProBuild and MiTek liable to Petitioners on their third party beneficiary and UCC 2 warranty theories. On October 26, 2015, the trial court entered an order finding ProBuild breached implied warranties and that MiTek breached express warranties based on the use of the engineer's stamp and representations ProBuild made to the Petitioners. The trial court dismissed the Schillings' breach of implied warranty claim based on undisputed evidence that Petitioners had no interaction with MiTek. It also dismissed the Schillings' third party beneficiary claim against MiTek

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Petitioners third party beneficiary cause of action was abandoned because they

based on undisputed evidence that MiTek did not breach its oral agreement with ProBuild. The order further noted that ProBuild and MiTek were allowed to bring a motion that the Petitioners' claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

On April 15, 2016, the trial court held that Petitioners' claims violated the statute of limitations and dismissed the complaint in its entirety. Division Three affirmed the trial courts dismissal of all claims based on the on statute of limitations and vacated all other summary judgment orders as moot. (A-17).

#### IV. This Court Should Deny Review.

## A. Petitioners failed to address the issues decided by the court of appeals and thus their appeal is moot.

The court of appeal decision was limited to evaluating whether or not the statute of limitations was tolled. Division Three found that tolling did not apply and the statute of limitations had run on Petitioners' claims. Despite that clear ruling, Petitioners fail to identify how Division Three erred when it concluded that the discovery rule did not apply and affirmed the dismissal.

The discovery rule provides that "a [CPA] cause of action accrues when the plaintiff, through the exercise of due diligence, knew or should have known the basis for the cause of action."

did not appeal that decision to the court of appeals below.

Green v. Am. Pharm. Co., 86 Wn. App. 63, 66, 935 P.2d 652 (1997), aff'd, 136 Wn.2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998). Petitioners asserted two theories why tolling applied: (1) that they did not know the TCDL should have been 15 instead of 12; and (2) they did not know that MiTek only prepared the designs based on parameters received from ProBuild.

The trial court and Division Three rejected both theories. First, both courts noted that Artisan knew or should have known the anticipated loading of the trusses in June 2007. This was confirmed at the deposition of Jim Sevigny of Artisan who testified that he expected a TCDL of 15 and knew how to look for it when he received truss designs. (A-31). Despite that fact, Jim Sevigny accepted the truss designs received from ProBuild clearly identifying a TCDL of 12.

The truss designs Artisan received also included a certification that the designs were prepared based on parameters received from ProBuild that needed to be reviewed by the building designer before being incorporated into any particular building. Tolling did not apply because Petitioners had adequate information in their possession in 2007:

The key consideration under the discovery rule is the factual, not the legal, basis for the cause of action. The action accrues when the plaintiff knows or should know the relevant facts, whether or not the plaintiff also knows that these facts are enough to establish a legal cause of action. Were the rule otherwise, the discovery rule would postpone accrual in every case until the plaintiff consults an attorney.

Allen v. State, 118 Wn.2d 753, 758, 826 P.2d 200 (1992 (citing Reichelt, 107 Wn.2d at 769, 733 P.2d 530; Gevaart, 111 Wn.2d at 502, 760 P.2d 348).

As it relates to the breach of warranty claims under UCC 2, the four-year statute of limitation that is codified at RCW 62A.2-725(2), confirms that the statute of limitation begins to run on delivery of the goods regardless of whether a plaintiff knew or should have known of any cause of action. *Kittitas Reclamation Dis. v. Spider Staging Corp.*, 107 Wn. App. 468, 472, 27 P.3d 645 (2001). The only exception to this rule is if the plaintiff can establish fraudulent concealment. *Giruad v. Quincy Farm & Chem.*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 455, 6 P.3d 104 (2000). As explained by Division Three, there is no evidence of fraudulent concealment and certainly Petitioners did not identify any evidence of fraudulent concealment in their petition for review. (A-15-17).

Division Three properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of all claims based on the statute of limitations.

B. Petitioners fail to identify an applicable RAP 13.4(b) factor that applies to the decision issued by the court of appeals.

Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should deny review because Petitioners failed to identify any portion of the opinion that is in conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the court of appeals. The Petitioners also failed to identify any portion of the opinion that raises a significant question of law under the Constitution or raises an issue of substantial public interest.

While Petitioners use the term "substantial public interest" in their issue statements, they do not identify any portion of the underlying decision that raises public interest concerns. Instead, their concern is that the court of appeals issued its opinion without addressing issue they briefed but were rendered moot when the case was decided on statute of limitations grounds alone.

Petitioners mistakenly argue that Division Three implicitly found that statutory duties can be disclaimed, or that ambiguous contract language was interpreted by the court. Petitioners are confusing the court of appeals finding that there was sufficient information to put them on inquiry notice to prevent the tolling of the statute of limitations from the court rendering a decision on the legal impact of MiTek's written disclosures.

### 1. The underlying decision does not raise a public interest concern.

Petitioners failed to identify a single sentence in the opinion issued by Division Three raising a question or issue of public interest. Instead, Petitioners seek to raise issues that were not decided by the court of appeals because they were rendered moot when all claims were deemed to be time barred by the statute of limitations.

Division Three's decision does not find, either directly or implicitly, that plan stamping is legal. The decision does not

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